1951

LaVar W. Thatcher et al v. Isabelle Merriam et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment in favor of respondents Isabelle Merriam, Edwin N. Robertson, Administrator of the Estate of Lillian Robertson, deceased, and Ellen Cook, and against all the appellants, by which it was determined that the respondents were the owners and holders of a Promissory Note dated November 1, 1947, in the sum of \$70,476.92 executed by

defendant L. DeWayne Merriam, payable to the order of Joseph F. Livingston, and that said respondents were also the owners and holders of a Deed of Trust and Chattel Mortgage which were executed and delivered by defendant L. DeWayne Merriam to secure the payment of said Promissory Note, and which judgment also determined that none of the appellants had or ever had any right, title, claim, or interest in or to said Promissory Note or in the indebtedness represented thereby or in said Deed of Trust or Chattel Mortgage securing the payment of said Promissory Note (R-30). One of the original defendants in the action was L. DeWayne Merriam. He was served with Summons, but did not appear and his default was entered. He was the maker of the Promissory Note, Chattel Mortgage, and Deed of Trust. Said L. DeWayne Merriam is taking no part in this appeal. The pages of the record will hereafter be referred to in parenthesis with no other designation.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action was one commenced in the District Court of Salt Lake County by the administrator of the Estate of Joseph F. Livingston, deceased, and the heirs of said decedent to have declared void and of no force and effect a certain instrument designated "Assignment," dated March 27, 1948, by which Joseph F. Livingston during his lifetime attempted to make a gift of an obligation owed to him by Lorin DeWayne Merriam, to three sisters of said Joseph F. Livingston; namely, Isabelle Merriam, Lillian Robertson, and Ellen Cook (1-3).

Lorin DeWayne Merriam is the same person as L.

DeWayne Merriam and his first name is incorrectly spelled in the transcript of the testimony "Lauren."

The case was tried before the Honorable Ray Van Cott, Jr., without a jury on March 9, 1951.

The respondents in their original Answer did not set forth any claim to the Promissory Note, Chattel Mortgage, and Deed of Trust, nor did they disclose upon what theory they claimed to be the owners of said instruments. However, at the close of the evidence, upon request of counsel for appellants, counsel for respondents stated that he claimed there was a gift of the note and the mortgages securing it by virtue of the execution and delivery by the deceased of the Assignment (92). Counsel for respondents at that time also amended the prayer of the Answer "to include such further relief as the defendants are entitled to and particularly that it be adjudged and determined that the three defendants are the owners of the note and the mortgages securing the payment of the note, which note is referred to in the Complaint and which was introduced in evidence."

The obligation of Lorin DeWayne Merriam was evidenced by a Promissory Note dated November 1, 1945, signed by him, originally for the sum of \$94,577.00, payable ten years after date in annual installments commencing November 1, 1946, with interest thereon at the rate of 6% per annum from date, payable annually (Exhibit E). The payment of the obligation was secured by a Deed of Trust dated April 29, 1946, covering 5,260 acres of real property situated in Rio Blanco and Moffat Counties, State of Colorado, which was signed by Lorin DeWayne Merriam (Exhibit B), and by a Chattel Mort-

gage dated April 29, 1946, which was also signed by Lorin DeWayne Merriam (Exhibit C). The Chattel Mortgage was on 3,141 head of sheep then located at Scenery Gulch, west of Meeker, Colorado, and other personal property (Exhibit C).

On November 1, 1947, another Promissory Note was executed and delivered to Joseph Franklin Livingston by Lorin DeWayne Merriam for the sum of \$70,476.92, payable on or before ten years after date with interest at the rate of 5% per annum from date thereof (Exhibit D), in which it was provided that the Note was secured by Deeds of Trust on lands in Moffat and Rio Blanco Counties, Colorado, and by Chattel Mortgage on certain sheep. The Note also provided that the maker agreed to pay annually toward the obligation any and all net profits realized from the operation of the mortgaged sheep. This Note was apparently a renewal of the earlier Note for \$94,577.00 (41). This Note shows by indorsement in handwriting of one, A. H. Anderson, under date of November 1, 1948, that interest was paid to date and \$5,476.92 was paid on the principal, leaving a balance on the Note of \$65,000.00 (38). Joseph F. Livingston died on April 14, 1948. A short time before his death, according to the testimony of Lester Cook, and Mrs. Isabelle Merriam, Joseph F. Livingston executed and delivered the Assignment, Exhibit A. The instrument bears date of March 27, 1948, and appears to have been acknowledged on the same day before a Notary Public. According to Mrs. Isabelle Merriam, who did not attend the trial, but whose testimony was read from a deposition, the Assignment was delivered by Joseph F. Livingston to Isabelle

Merriam and her two sisters, Mrs. Cook and Mrs. Robertson, while at the home of Mr. and Mrs. Cook (74). Mrs. Merriam believed that it was delivered on March 26, 1948 (76). Lester Cook also testified that he saw the Assignment first on March 26, 1948 (54). The testimony of Mr. Cook (56) and Mrs. Merriam (77) is to the effect that the Assignment was taken to a Notary Public for the signature of the Notary Public without Joseph F. Livingston being present (56), and without his personal acknowledgement.

Neither the Promissory Note dated November 1, 1945, Exhibit E, (58-59), nor the Promissory Note dated November 1, 1947, Exhibit D, (37, 58, 62, 81), nor the Deed of Trust, Exhibit B (59), nor the Chattel Mortgage (61), a photostatic copy of which was prepared by the County Recorder of Rio Blanco County, Colorado, Exhibit C, was delivered to the said three sisters of Joseph F. Livingston, or to anyone on their behalf by Joseph F. Livingston, or by anyone on his behalf during the lifetime of Joseph F. Livingston (58-59). The Chattel Mortgage had been filed in the office of the County Recorder of Rio Blanco County, Colorado, on June 7, 1946 (Exhibit C) and apparently remained on file there. The Deed of Trust, Exhibit B, was filed for record in the office of the County Recorder of Rio Blanco County, Colorado, on June 7, 1946, and was apparently returned to Joseph F. Livingston, and found by LaVar W. Thatcher among the papers of Mr. Livingston the day after his death (35). LaVar W. Thatcher also testified that he found the copy of the Chattel Mortgage, Exhibit C, and the Promissory Note, Exhibit D, among the papers of Mr. Living-

ston the day after his death (37). Mr. Thatcher found the Promissory Note, Exhibit E, after the death of Mr. A. H. Anderson, who was the manager of the sheep operations for the Estate of Joseph F. Livingston, deceased, (59-60) among the papers belonging to the Livingston Estate in Mr. Anderson's desk (40-41). Mr. Anderson died in August, 1950 (40). Mr. Cook testified that he had the photostatic copy of the Chattel Mortgage, Exhibit C, made (60) after the death of Mr. Livingston (61).

The Assignment, Exhibit A, was recorded in the office of the County Recorder of Rio Blanco County, Colorado, on April 30, 1948, 16 days after the death of Joseph F. Livingston. It was apparently recorded at the request of DeWayne Merriam whose name appears, together with his address, on the cover of the document (Exhibit A).

The Assignment, Exhibit A, contained the following provisions in regard to the Assignment of the Deed of Trust and the Promissory Note:

“* * * provided, however, that the undersigned assignor hereby reserves unto himself during his lifetime all amounts becoming due on the principal of said promissory note and all amounts in excess of the amounts periodically becoming due thereon which the maker thereof under the terms of said note may choose to pay on said principal during the lifetime of the assignor herein; the interest on said principal amount to be paid as said interest shall accrue, to the assignees herein in the percentages hereinabove reserved, i.e., 50% of said interest accruing to be paid to said Isabelle Merriam, 25% of said interest accruing to be paid to said Lillian Robertson, and 25% of said interest accruing to be paid to said Ellen Cook, the undersigned hereby authorizing the

maker of said note and mortgage to make payment of the amounts herein assigned to the persons named in the percentages herein mentioned * * * " (Exhibit A, Pages 1 & 2) (4 & 5) (26 & 27).

The Assignment, Exhibit A, also contained the following provision in regard to the assignment of the Chattel Mortgage and the Note securing the same:

"* * * being subject to the same terms and conditions as hereinabove set forth, to-wit: reserving unto the assignor herein during his lifetime all amounts becoming due on the principal of said note and all amounts in excess of the amounts periodically becoming due thereon which the maker thereof under the terms of said note may choose to pay on said principal during the lifetime of the assignor herein, the interest on said principal amount to be paid as said interest shall accrue, to the assignees herein in the percentages hereinabove reserved, i.e., 50% of said interest accruing to be paid to said Isabelle Mirriam, 25% of said interest accruing to be paid to said Lillian Robertson, and 25% of said interest accruing to be paid to said Ellen Cook, the undersigned hereby authorizing the maker of said note and chattel mortgage to make payment of the amounts herein assigned to the persons named in the percentages hereinabove mentioned." (Exhibit A, Pages 2 & 3) (5 & 6) (27 & 28).

There is no evidence that Lorin DeWayne Merriam was at any time prior to the death of Joseph F. Livingston notified by him of the purported assignment.

Lester Cook, who is one and the same person as W. L. Cook, after the death of Joseph F. Livingston, was on August 30, 1948, given a general power of attorney to act for Isabelle Merriam, Lillian Robertson, and Ellen Cook (Exhibit F) (47 & 83).

The evidence in the case consisted of the testimony of three witnesses and Exhibits A to F inclusive. The witnesses were LaVar W. Thatcher (34 to 42), the Administrator of the Estate of Joseph F. Livingston, deceased, one of the appellants who was the only witness for the plaintiffs; and Lester Cook (44 to 62 and 82 to 90), who is the husband of one of the respondents, Ellen Cook, and the attorney in fact for Ellen Cook and Isabelle Merriam, and who was the attorney in fact for Lillian Robertson prior to her death; and Isabelle L. Merriam, whose deposition was read into the record (62 to 81). Mrs. Merriam is one of the respondents. Mr. Cook and Mrs. Merriam were the only witnesses for the defendants. The plaintiffs made objection to Mrs. Merriam becoming a witness for the respondents because her testimony was concerning statements by or transactions with Joseph F. Livingston, or matters of fact which must have been equally within the knowledge of the witness and Joseph F. Livingston, it being claimed by appellants that Mrs. Merriam was prohibited from being a witness by the terms of Section 104-49-2 (3), Utah Code Annotated, 1943, (62, 63 & 64).

At the close of the trial in the District Court, the original Exhibits D and E, being the Promissory Notes, were by stipulation of the parties withdrawn and photostatic copies thereof were substituted.

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON

Appellants intend to rely upon the following points for a reversal of the judgment of the Court below:

POINT I.

Since by the instrument, designated Assignment, Exhibit A, relied on by respondents as creating a gift, Joseph F. Livingston retained during his lifetime present and future dominion over the subject of the purported gift, the attempted gift failed, and it was error for the Court to find that all of the right, title, and interest of Joseph F. Livingston in and to the Promissory Note, Exhibit D; the Deed of Trust, Exhibit B; and the Chattel Mortgage, a copy of which is Exhibit C; were assigned to respondents, Isabelle Merriam and Ellen Cook and Lillian Robertson, and to render judgment that the defendants Isabelle Merriam, Edwin N. Robertson, Administrator of the Estate of Lillian Robertson, deceased, and Ellen Cook, are the owners of the Promissory Note, Deed of Trust, and Chattel Mortgage.

POINT II.

Since the Promissory Note, Deed of Trust, and Chattel Mortgage were all retained by Joseph F. Livingston and not delivered to Isabelle Merriam, Ellen Cook, or Lillian Robertson, and the Promissory Note was not endorsed by Joseph F. Livingston, it was error for the Court to find that, by the purported Assignment, all of the right, title, and interest of Joseph F. Livingston in and to the Promissory Note, Deed of Trust, and Chattel Mortgage referred to in said Assignment were assigned to defendants Isabelle Merriam and Ellen Cook and Lillian Robertson, and to render judgment that defendants Isabelle Merriam, Edwin N. Robertson, Administrator of the Estate of Lillian Robertson, deceased, and Ellen Cook are the owners of the Promissory Note, Deed of Trust, and Chattel Mortgage.

POINT III.

It was error for the Court to permit Isabelle Merriam to be a witness and to testify in violation of Section 104-49-2 (3), Utah Code Annotated, 1943.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

Since by the instrument, designated Assignment, Exhibit A, relied on by respondents as creating a gift, Joseph F. Livingston retained during his lifetime present and future dominion over the subject of the purported gift, the attempted gift failed, and it was error for the Court to find that all of the right, title, and interest of Joseph F. Livingston in and to the Promissory Note, Exhibit D; the Deed of Trust, Exhibit B; and the Chattel Mortgage, a copy of which is Exhibit C; were assigned to respondents, Isabelle Merriam and Ellen Cook and Lillian Robertson, and to render judgment that the defendants Isabelle Merriam, Edwin N. Robertson, Administrator of the Estate of Lillian Robertson, deceased, and Ellen Cook, are the owners of the Promissory Note, Deed of Trust, and Chattel Mortgage.

The subject of the claimed gift is divisible into two parts, the principal of the obligation and the interest thereon. The argument on Point I will apply only to the principal of the obligation, and will not apply to the interest thereon. We do not particularly urge that the purported gift of the interest was ineffective because of retention of dominion over and control of the same, however, we rely on the other points herein to reverse the judgment of the lower court in that regard.

A valid gift *inter vivos* must have no reference to the future and must go into immediate and absolute effect. The donor must be divested of and the donee invested with the right of property in the subject of the gift. It must be absolute, irrevocable, and without reference to its taking place at some future time. The donor must deliver the property and part with all present and future dominion over it.

The above statement is supported by the following citations: *Holman v. Deseret Savings Bank, et al.* (1912) 41 Utah 340, 124 Pac. 765; *In Re Romney's Estate* (1922) 60 Utah 173, 207 Pac. 139; *Peterson v. Weiner* (Texas 1934) 71 SW 2d. 554; *Stevenson v. Earl* 65 N. J. Eq. 721, 55 Atl. 1091, 103 Am. St. Rep. 790, 1 Ann. Cas. 49; *Young v. Young* 80 N. Y. 437, 36 Am. Rep. 634; *Basket v. Hassell* 107 U. S. 602, 27 L. Ed. 500, 2 Sup. Ct. R. 415, 28 C. J. Gifts, Sections 5, 15, 21, 23, and 41, 12 R.C.L. 931.

Joseph F. Livingston reserved unto himself during his lifetime the absolute right to the principal of the obligation, not only to the amounts becoming due, but also to any excess which the maker of the note might choose to pay. The Note was payable on or before ten years after date and could have been paid in full at any time. This reservation was a complete dominion over the principal of the gift. No part of the principal was given to the purported donees. Mr. Livingston, the day after the execution of the Assignment, could have received the entire principal due on the obligation if Lorin DeWayne Merriam decided to pay off the obligation. Only the death of Mr. Livingston prevented him from collecting the principal amount of the obligation. The

attempted gift of the principal, therefore, could have no effect in praesenti but could only take effect upon the death of Mr. Livingston. The most that can be urged regarding the principal of the obligation is that it was an attempt to make a gift of the amount remaining unpaid on the principal, if any, at the death of Mr. Livingston. In other words, there was an attempt to make a gift effective upon death of Mr. Livingston of the amount remaining unpaid at the time of his death, which attempt is testamentary in character and the instrument creating it not being executed with the formalities of a Will is, therefore, void.

“A gift of property to take effect after the donor’s death, the donor in the meanwhile retaining the control and dominion of the property, cannot be sustained. Such gifts are in contravention of the Statutes governing the testamentary disposition of property. It is not necessary that the condition that the property shall not pass until the death of the donor be expressly stated, in order to invalidate the gift as one inter vivos, it being sufficient if the condition is implied. On the other hand, if the gift is absolute, the mere postponement of the enjoyment until the death of the donor is not material and will not defeat it.”
28 *C. J. Gifts*, Section 43.

Appellants are aware of the line of cases which hold that a gift of an obligation retaining the income or interest for life is under certain conditions valid. It is our contention, however, that the instant case is clearly distinguishable from those cases. In the line of cases referred to the donor has divested himself of all control over the principal which was the subject of the gift and retained unto himself only the income or interest on the

obligation. The donor in those cases divested himself of all power to defeat the gift during his lifetime. The subject of the gift was placed beyond the donor's power and control, and there was nothing that the donor could do in regard to the principal of the obligation. In this case Mr. Livingston retained all control over the principal and could do with it as he saw fit. He retained within his power the right to defeat the gift of the principal so that the gift was not absolute and immediately effective.

In the case of *Peterson v. Weiner*, supra, there is a good discussion on the subject of retention and control over a note, and it was there held that where the payee of a note, who attempted to make a gift of it, retained and collected payments thereon until his death, he could not make a valid gift of the balance due on the note without making a Will. The court stated on Page 546 of 71 SW 2d.:

“Regardless of this proposition, however, he undoubtedly had the right to collect and use the monthly installments and to this extent had dominion over the note, and only his death could defeat his perfect right to use both the principal and interest of the note. There could be no gift of any part of the note or the debt which the note represented, so long as Eaton had such dominion of the same, and such power to defeat the entire gift.

“It is true that a person may retain a life estate in property and convey the remainder to another, but under such circumstances the grantor only has the use of the property, and cannot otherwise dispose of the property. It has been held that one may give money to another, but require the payment of interest during his life-

time, but this is not inconsistent with the idea that he has parted with the title to the principal.

“We conclude that Joseph Eaton did not part with the absolute title of the indebtedness evidenced by the note and that he retained dominion over the same in that he had a right to collect and spend as he saw fit not only the interest, but the principal provided for in the note, and this right could only be questioned by his dying before all the payments became due.”

The above case is strikingly in point with the instant case and it and the other authorities cited support our contention that Joseph F. Livingston retained such dominion over and control of the principal of the purported gift as to defeat it. We are not aware of any case where the donor has retained such control of and dominion over the purported gift, as retained by Mr. Livingston in the instant case, where the court has held that there was a valid gift.

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