1951

LaVar W. Thatcher et al v. Isabelle Merriam et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

The authorities relied upon by appellants do not controvert the proposition that a conveyance of the title to

personal property intended by the assignor to take effect immediately as a gift is not invalidated by a reservation of an interest in the property or by a postponement of the full use and enjoyment of the property. The controlling inquiry is the intention of the donor, and each case stands on its own facts. Where the donor has expressed his intention in a writing that is not ambiguous, there is no issue of fact concerning the donor's intention. It is a matter of law to be decided by the court.

POINT II

DELIVERY OF THE ASSIGNMENT WAS CONSTRUCTIVE DELIVERY OF THE NOTE AND MORTGAGES AND COMPLETED THE GIFT.

We recognize that some form of delivery is essential to the validity of a gift *inter vivos* of personal property. There has been considerable discussion by the courts as to the character and form of delivery that is necessary in cases such as this one wherein the donor has manifested in clear and unequivocal language his intention to make a gift. In *Gordon v. Barr*, *supra*, it is said:

“The necessity for delivery in gifts of personal property has its genesis in the archaic doctrine of seisin. Brown on Personal Property, p. 76; 20 Col. L. R. 196; 21 Ill. L. R. 341. But in spite of the obsolete and formalistic character of its origin, the requirement has salutary features which fully justify its retention in the law. It protects the property of the individual from ill-founded and fraudulent claims of gift by requiring strong concrete evidence that he really intended to part with his property. Such a precaution is especially desirable when,

as is frequently the case, the alleged donor is dead at the time the claim is asserted. Moreover, by requiring some positive act of relinquishment such as manual tradition of the subject of the gift, the significance of the donor's act is forcefully brought home to him, and he is thus protected from ill-considered or impulsive donations of his property. See Mechem, *The Requirement of Delivery in Gifts of Chattels*, 21 Ill. L. Rev. 341, 457, 568, at 348 et seq.

"In the light of these desiderata such vague terms as 'constructive delivery', 'symbolic delivery', and 'parting with dominion and control' take on a new aspect and become more certain and explainable. Where there has been unequivocal proof of a deliberate and well-considered donative intent on the part of the donor, many courts have been inclined to overlook the technical requirements and to hold that a 'constructive' or 'symbolic' delivery is sufficient to vest title in the donee. However, where this is allowed the evidence must clearly show an intention to part presently with some substantial attribute of ownership."

In *Greener v. Greener*, this court said:

"The most widely accepted view is that the property passes as a gift inter vivos, provided there is a donative intent and delivery. *Christensen v. Ogden State Bank*, 75 Utah 478, 286 P. 638. Recognition that actual manual delivery of a chose in action is impossible has led to a determination that relinquishment of control of the bank passbook is a legally sufficient symbolic delivery. And even where the donor retained the bank book it has been held that the delivery was sufficient, on the theory that the parties have an equal right to the book and delivery to either of the co-depositors is delivery to both. *Holt v. Bayles*, 85 Utah 364, 39 P. 2d 715. When this theory of delivery is adopted there is no

substantial difference between the operative facts necessary for a gift inter vivos and for a third party beneficiary contract, the validity of the transfer in each case hinging on intent."

The subject matter of the gift in the case before us is a chose in action evidenced by a promissory note, trust deed and chattel mortgage. The assignment was a conveyance of this chose in action and it discloses the intention of the donor that the conveyance was to take effect as a gift. The property transferred was incapable of a manual delivery. The delivery of the written assignment completed the transfer of title and fully effected the gift. The case of *Reed v. Knudsen*, supra, forecloses any question that the delivery of the assignment completed the gift. In that case the donor executed an assignment of a one-half interest in an estate of which he was the sole heir. The estate consisted of real and personal property. The assignment was without consideration and therefore could operate only as a gift. There was no pretense of a delivery of any part of the assets of the estate, the subject of the gift. This court upheld the gift after concluding that the assignment had been delivered to the donor's attorney with directions to deliver it to the donee.

In *Burkett v. Doty*, 167 P. 518, 176 Cal. 89, the facts were these: The donor executed, acknowledged and delivered to the donee an assignment of a promissory note and mortgage securing its payment. The note was payable to the donor who was also the mortgagee. The assignment recited that it was not to be placed as of record during the lifetime of the donor. The note and the mortgage remained

in the possession of the donor in a box kept by her in the vault of a bank. The assignment was without consideration. The Supreme Court held that the delivery of the assignment completed the gift of the note and mortgage. The court said:

“The assignment itself purported to transfer the notes immediately to the plaintiff. As it was duly signed, acknowledged, and delivered to the plaintiff, it constituted the strongest of evidence of the intention of the assignor to transfer the notes to the plaintiff in the manner there specified. And as the effect of that assignment, according to its terms, was to immediately transfer to the plaintiff the title and ownership of the notes, it constituted satisfactory, if not conclusive, evidence of the intent of the assignor to do that which the instrument, in law, would accomplish; that is, to divest herself of all right of dominion over the notes, and of all present right to, or control over them, and to make an immediate transfer of the title thereto. It must be remembered that, as between donor and donee, it is not necessary to the validity of a gift inter vivos, if made by a written instrument transferring the title to the donee, that the possession of the thing given be passed to the donee. The transfer of the right to its immediate possession and control, the title thereto, is sufficient, and the gift then takes effect, although the donor retains all the power of control that can arise from such possession. *Driscoll v. Driscoll*, supra; *Francoeur v. Beatty*, supra.

“The provision declaring that ‘this assignment of said mortgage is not to be placed as of record during the lifetime’ of the assignor does not purport to operate upon the notes which, of course, were not entitled to record, as such. It does not purport to operate upon the title to either the mortgage or the

notes, nor in any way to change the legal effect of the instrument as a conveyance thereof. The transfer of both was complete without such record."

That the delivery of an assignment transferring the title to personal property will effectuate a gift of it even though the subject of the gift is capable of manual delivery and remains in the possession of the donor is established by the following cases:

In re Fenton's Estate, 165 N. W. 463, 182 Iowa 346;

Humphry v. Ogden, 125 P. 110, 53 Col. 309;

Sponogle v. Sponogle, 151 P. 43, 86 Wash. 649;

Garrison v. Spencer, 160 P. 493, 58 Okl. 442;

Lipson v. Evans, 105 A. 312, 133 Md. 370;

Fontron v. Korzuskiewwz, 266 P. 649, 125 Kan. 725;

Sylvain v. Page, 276 P. 16, 84 Mont. 424.

None of the cases cited by appellants support the proposition that either the endorsement or actual delivery of the promissory note is indispensable to the validity of the gift of the note. In none of the cases in which appellant refers was there a delivery of a formal assignment of the subject of the gift. As has been pointed out, the basis of the law requiring delivery to effectuate the gift is that it is concrete evidence of the intention to make a gift. Here we have a formal instrument solemnly executed by the donor in which he manifests in unequivocal language his intention to make a gift. He uses the word "give", the primary

meaning of which is to transfer gratuitously. See *Baker v. Pyeatt*, 108 Ind. 61, 9 N. E. 112. He uses the words "in consideration of the love and affection" which removes any possible question that he intended the word "give" to have its usual and primary meaning. The donor also uses the word "assign", the primary meaning of which is to transfer title or ownership of property. It is the most appropriate word to effect a transfer of a chose in action. See *Commercial Discount Company v. Cowan*, . . . Cal. . . ., 116 P. (2d) 599. The delivery of the assignment is far more conclusive of the intention of Livingston to make a gift of the note than is a mere handing over to the assignee the evidence of the indebtedness which is the real subject matter of the gift. To hold in this case that manual tradition of the note is essential would amount to a total disregard of the basis of the law requiring delivery and would overrule the prior decisions of this court.

Appellants refer to and cite Section 61-1-31 of the Uniform Negotiable Instruments Act which provides that an instrument is negotiated when it is transferred from one person to another in such manner as to constitute the transferee the holder thereof and if the instrument is payable to order it is negotiated by the endorsement of the holder completed by delivery. They say that this section of the Negotiable Instruments Act has some bearing upon the respondents' ownership of the note and mortgages.

Section 61-1-31 might have some application if this were an action against the payee or his estate, based upon an alleged endorsement of the note by the payee. No such controversy is here presented. This is a simple contest be-

tween the payee and his assignees concerning the title and ownership of the note. Appellants assert that the payee has not parted with his title or ownership in the note. The respondents assert that he did. They base their title upon the assignment which by its words of conveyance transfer to them all the payee's title to the note. They maintain that the transfer of that title was made as a gift and that the delivery of the assignment was in law a delivery of the note.

That Section 61-1-31 can give no comfort or aid to the appellants is established by *Johnson v. Beickey, et al.*, 64 Utah 43, 228 P. 189. The facts in that case were these: The defendant was the payee of a promissory note which he endorsed and delivered to the bank as collateral security for a loan. Later he executed and delivered to Machen an assignment of the promissory note. The note, however, was never endorsed or delivered to Machen but remained in the possession of the bank. Subsequent to the execution and delivery of the assignment, the plaintiff obtained a judgment against the defendant and garnished the note in the hands of the bank. A short time later the bank loan was paid off and the controversy in the action was between the plaintiff and the assignee Machen. Plaintiff claimed that the assignment to Machen and the delivery of the assignment to Machen was ineffectual to transfer the title to the note because there was no endorsement or delivery of the note to Machen. This court held that neither endorsement nor delivery of the note was at all essential to the passing of title to the note and that the delivery of the assignment vested in the assignee the title and ownership of the note.

The plaintiff relied particularly upon what is now Section 61-1-31 of the Negotiable Instruments Law. The court said:

“* * * While the Negotiable Instruments Law expressly provides that every contract on a negotiable instrument is incomplete and revocable until delivery of the instrument for the purpose of giving effect thereto, such provision is merely a legislative enactment of the common-law rule, and was not intended to abrogate or impair other well-recognized rules by which delivery would be implied, either from authority actually conferred by the maker or holder upon an agent, or from conduct which should estop them from claiming that they had not delivered or authorized the delivery of the instrument. The trial court made no finding as to whether or not the note was endorsed to the banking company, nor was such finding necessary. The transfer to the bank is not in question, and it may be assumed that the instrument was so endorsed. It might thereafter be transferred without endorsement, by delivery merely. Such delivery may be actual, or constructive, such as written evidence of the transfer intending thereby to vest the thing itself in praesenti in the assignee, but it is not essential that the delivery shall be directly to the assignee. *Stoll v. Mutual Ben. L. Ins. Co.*, 115 Wis. 558, 92 N. W. 277.

“Turning to the authorities cited by appellant, we find that they do not change or modify the general rules with reference to the transfer or negotiation of negotiable instruments.

“ “Assignment” of bills and notes is often referred to as including endorsement, but as used herein the term is confined to a transfer without endorsement. *Like an ordinary chose in action, a bill or note may be transferred by assignment or by mere delivery with the usual*

incidents of such a transfer, *and this rule is not changed by the negotiable instrument law.*
 * * * It may be formal or informal; * * *
 it may be by *a separate instrument*, or in the absence of a statute to the contrary, by parol.'
 (Italics ours.) 8 Cyc. p. 383.

"And in the case of O'Connor v. Slatter, 48 Wash. 493, 93 Pac. 1078, the court held:

" 'No doubt a promissory note may be transferred without endorsement, the same as any other article of personal property, either under our statute or independent of statute.'

" 'Assignment' and 'endorsement,' as applied to negotiable instruments, are not synonymous terms. An endorsement is not merely a transfer of title, but a new and substantive contract by which the endorser becomes a party to the instrument and liable, on certain conditions, for its payment. An assignment means a transfer of the title. It neither includes nor implies becoming in any way a party to the payment, or responsible for the insolvency or default of the maker."

POINT III

ANY ERROR COMMITTED BY THE TRIAL COURT IN PERMITTING ISABELLE MERRIAM TO BE A WITNESS AND TESTIFY IN THIS CASE WAS HARMLESS.

Without question Isabelle Merriam was competent to testify to any material matter with the possible exception of the delivery of the assignment by the deceased and statements made by him at the time of such delivery. For the purpose of this case it may be conceded that her testimony with respect to the delivery of the assignment by the de-

ceased and statements made by him at that time was erroneously received. However, the delivery of the assignment and the statements made by the deceased at the time were testified to by the witness Cook who was to no extent disqualified from testifying to such matters. *Mower v. Mower*, 64 U. 260, 228 P. 911; *Olson v. Scott*, 61 U. 42, 210 P. 987; *Burnham v. Tschler*, ... U. ..., 208 P. (2d) 96; *Gene v. Harper*, ... U. ..., 222 P. (2d) 571. There was no conflict in the evidence whatever on the issue of delivery of the assignment. On the contrary the only evidence produced by the appellants touching the issue of delivery was in corroboration of the respondents' evidence. The appellants do not upon this appeal question the sufficiency of the evidence to support the finding of the court that the assignment was delivered by the deceased to the assignees. The case was tried by the court without a jury. It is presumed that the trial court disregarded any incompetent testimony admitted. Such being the state of the record, any error committed by the trial court in permitting Mrs. Merriam to testify was harmless and could have no effect upon the outcome of the trial. See *Baird v. Upper Irrig. Co.*, 70 U. 57, 257 P. 1060; *Cook v. Jones*, ... U. ..., 206 P. (2d) 630; *Olson v. Scott*, *supra*.

SUMMARY

In conclusion the respondents submit that the assignment (Exhibit A) assigned and transferred to respondents all of the assignor's right, title and interest in the promissory note and the mortgages securing its payment; that the assignor's intention that such transfer of ownership should operate as a gift is established beyond a reasonable doubt; that the assignor reserved to himself only the right during his lifetime to receive certain payments that might be made by the maker of the note; that the reservation of such right or limited interest in the note did not defer or postpone the gift to respondents; that the delivery of the assignment operated as a constructive delivery of the note and mortgages and the failure of the donor to endorse the note or manually deliver it to the donees did not impair or affect the validity of the gift; that no prejudicial error was committed by the trial court in ruling upon the testimony of Mrs. Merriam; and that the judgment appealed from is right and should be affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

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